

### Success Story of Induced Mutagenesis for Development of New Ornamental Varieties

### Subodh K. Datta

Madhyamgram Experimental Farm, Acharya J C Bose Biotechnology Innovation Center, Bose Institute, 24-Parganas (N), Kolkata 700 0129, India Corresponding author: \* subodhskdatta@rediffmail.com, subodhskdatta@yahoo.com

#### ABSTRACT

Induced mutagenesis is well recognized as one of the most important technology for the development of new varieties through genetic manipulations. Mutation techniques, using physical and chemical mutagens, have successfully produced quite a large number of new promising varieties in different ornamental plants. This technique has been most successful in ornamental plants due to some additional advantages. Changes in any phenotypic characteristics like colour, shape or size of flower and chlorophyll variegation in leaves can be easily detected. Heterozygous nature of many of the cultivars offers high mutation frequency. The main advantage of mutation induction in vegetative propagated crops is the ability to change one or a few characters of an otherwise outstanding cultivar without altering the remaining and often unique part of the genotype. Voluminous literature for successful application of classical induced mutagenesis have been generated on radio-sensitivity, selection of mutants and commercial exploitation of mutants. Different treatment methodology like recurrent irradiation, combined treatment, split dose, colchicine treatment, ion beam technology, space breeding, TILLING, EMAIL, etc., have been precisely determined for successful development of new varieties. The main bottlenecks in mutation breeding of vegetatively propagated plant are formation of chimeras. Therefore, attempts were made to find out the ways to overcome this situation. Management of chimera and *in vitro* technique have opened a new way for isolating new flower colour/shape ornamental cultivars through retrieval of mutated cells. Step wise advancement/refinement of practical approaches for application of classical induced mutagenesis and recent techniques for improvement of ornamental crops have been highlighted.

**Keywords:** biotechnological applications, chimera, genetic variation, improvement, mutagens, ornamental plants **Abbreviations: EMAIL**, endonucleolytic mutation analysis by internal labeling; **LET**, linear energy transfer; **RBE**, relative biological effectiveness; **TILLING**, targeting induced local lesions in genomes

#### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	15
CLASSICAL INDUCED MUTATION	16
Recurrent irradiation	18
Colchicine as a mutagen	18
Combined treatment	18
INDUCED MUTAGENESIS IN CROSS BREEDING	18
ACUTE AND CHRONIC IRRADIATIONS	18
IN VITRO ADVENTITIOUS BUD TECHNIOUE	18
DETECTION OF MUTATIONS	19
CHLOROPHYLL VARIEGATION	19
MUTATION IN FLOWER MORPHOLOGY	19
MUTANT OF A MUTANT	19
IN VITRO MUTAGENESIS AND MANAGEMENT OF CHIMERAS	19
ION BEAM TECHNOLOGY	19
SPACE BREEDING	20
TARGETING INDUCED LOCAL LESIONS IN GENOMES (TILLING)	20
ENDONUCLEOLYTIC MUTATION ANALYSIS BY INTERNAL LABELLING (EMAIL)	20
CONCLUSION	20
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	20
REFERENCES	21

#### INTRODUCTION

A number of plant breeding methods like cross-breeding, induced mutagenesis and molecular breeding are available for crop improvement and more specifically to develop new varieties. Induced mutagenesis is now an established method for crop improvement. The use of induced mutations has over the past 50 years played a major role in the development of superior crop varieties translating into a tremendous economic impact on agriculture and food production. Approximately 3000 varieties have been released worldwide that have been derived either as direct mutants or from their progenies. Officially released mutationderived varieties include many important crops such as rice, cotton, rapeseed, sunflower, sesame, grapefruit, banana, ornamentals, etc. and they have made a major global economic impact. Mutation-derived varieties with changed traits have resulted in a synergistic effect on increasing the yield and quality of the crop, improving agronomic inputs, crop rotation, and consumer acceptance. Mutation techniques have become a major tool for breeding ornamental plants. Detailed review on the global impact of mutation derived varieties developed and released all over the world have been published (Ahloowalia et al. 2004; Lagoda 2009; Kharkwal and Shu 2009; Jain 2010). The main advantage of mutation induction in vegetative propagated crop is the ability to change one or a few characters of an otherwise outstanding cultivar without altering the remaining and often unique part of the genotype (Broertjes 1968). Mutation breeding has become more successful in ornamental plants due to some additional advantages. Changes in any phenotypic characteristics like colour, shape or size of flower and chlorophyll variegation in leaves can be easily detected. Heterozygous nature of many of the cultivars occur high mutation frequency.

A large number of new promising varieties have been successfully developed in different ornamental plants by mutation techniques using both ionizing radiations and other mutagens. Attempts are made, in the present chapter, to highlight the knowledge concerning the advancement /refinement of practical approach for application of induced mutagenesis for improvement of ornamental crops. Emphasis has been given to elaborate some of the interesting findings of classical mutation breeding and step wise refinement of mutation technique for better result. Voluminous literature is available in the field of application of mutagenesis for improvement of ornamental plants. The details of prospects, utilization of induced mutations, list of released mutant varieties in different crop plants and many important aspects of mutagenesis in vegetatively propagated ornamentals have been compiled and published as review papers (Smith 1958; Stube 1959; Khoshoo 1968; Broertjes 1969; Sigurbjorsson and Micke 1969; Swaminathan 1971; Broertjes and Van Harten 1978; Gottschalk and Wolff 1983; Micke et al. 1987, 1990; Bhatia 1991; Micke 1991; Kawai and Amano 1991; Wang 1991; Anonymous 1994; Maluszynski et al. 1995; Datta 1988, 1997a, 1997b; Schum and Preil 1998; Maluszynski et al. 2000; Datta 2001, 2004; Ahloowalia et al. 2004; Datta and Teixeira da Silva 2006; Jain 2006; Datta 2009a, 2009b; Nagatomi and Degi 2009; Datta 2010; Jain 2010). Appreciable informations have been accumulated on both applied and basic aspects like radiosensitivity, selection of material, methods of exposure to gamma rays, suitable dose of gamma rays, colchicine treatment, recurrent irradiation, detection and isolation of mutants, commercial exploitation of mutant, etc. Creation of genetic variability is pre-requisite for development of new variety. Induced mutagenesis is an established method for plant improvement using physical and/or chemical mutagens. For improvement programme, one should have all up-to-date knowledge about technical details and their merits and demerits. Breeder should be aware of the potential and the limitations of various approaches and should deliberately choose the strategy which is most appropriate as well as economic for reaching the aims under prevailing circumstances of variety improvement.

#### **CLASSICAL INDUCED MUTATION**

The concept of using induced mutagenesis for crop improvement using different physical and chemical mutagens developed dates back to the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. First observation on effects of radium rays on higher plant was reported by Gager (1908). Study of induced artificial genetic changes commenced in 1927 by Muller who discovered the mutagenic property of X-ray in *Drosophila* and similar mutational effects was demonstrated by Stadlar (1928a, 1928b) in plants (*Zea mays* L. and *Hordeum vulgare* L.) by X-ray and radium. In the same year mutation has also been induced in *Nicotiana* by Goodspeede and Olsom (1928). They assumed that induced genetic changes (induced mutation) could play an important role in future genetic improvement of plants.

Induced mutagenesis work was concentrated at early stage mainly on fundamental research i.e. detection of new mutagens and their effects on living cells. Slowly more emphasis was given on experimental mutagenesis for better understanding the mechanisms of mutagenesis (Grabowska and Mynett 1970; Gottschalk and Wolf 1983; Veleminsky and Gichner 1987). Practical mutation breeding procedure by use of mutagenesis strictly for plant breeding developed after publications of Freisleben and Lein (1943a, 1943b) in Halle (Germany). They successfully induced mildew resistance in barley and developed a practical mutation breeding procedure. Information's accumulated on optimal treatment doses, treatment condition, mutation frequency and mutation spectra after systematic studies in Sweden using X-ray by Hoffman (1959). High potential for bringing genetic improvement by induced mutation was realized. From 1960 and onwards developing countries began to play an increasing role in mutation breeding work.

Some other types of ionizing radiations, e.g., gamma rays, neutron, radioisotopes emiting beta and alpha rays were also included for radiological studies. After these discoveries, the effect of radiations on chromosome and genes was the main aspect of study. In course of time, the subject 'radio sensitivity' has been developed. It deals with the sensitivity of plant or animal tissues to radiations. Radio sensitivity studies may lead to an understanding of the mechanism of action of ionizing radiations. Such studies also provide valuable information on radiation protection and radiation therapy. Determination of radio sensitivity of any crop is pre-requisite for large scale irradiation of materials for induction of mutation. A number of workers have studied the cyto-morphological and physiological effects induced by ionizing radiations in higher plants. Studies indicated that various biological, physical and chemical fac-tors (genotype, stage of cellular development, chromosome number, age of the tissue, storage after irradiation, oxygen, chemicals, water, temperature, ionization density, combined treatment, etc.) can modify the effects of radiation in plants (Sagawa 1957; Sparrow et al. 1968; Datta 1984, 1992a, 2006a). According to available literature the radio sensitivity is known to depend on both nuclear factors (interphase chromosome volume, interphase nuclear volume, chromosome number, chromosome size, nucleolus and heterochromatin, centeromere number and position, degree of polyploidy and nuclear DNA content) and extra nuclear factors (cytoplasmic factors, moisture content of seed coat and seed weight). Induced chromosomal aberrations as the end point of radio sensitivity was studied in root meristems and found that different ornamental cultivars were differently sensitive irrespective of flower colour, size and shape and it has been clearly mentioned that radio sensitivity in the garden chrysanthemum is a genotype dependent mechanism (Datta 1992b; Banerji and Datta 1993).

Determination of suitable dose of gamma radiations for the induction of somatic mutation is most essential. The working dose of some common ornamentals has been precisely determined (Datta 2009a). The frequency of mutation varies with the cultivar and dose of gamma rays. Some cultivars are moderately sensitive, some are more sensitive and some are resistant to mutagens. Like mutation frequency, spectrum of mutation also varies with the cultivar and dose of gamma rays.

Since the 1930s mutation induction has been applied to ornamental plants. De Mol released the first officially registered commercial mutant cultivar 'Faraday' using X-ray induced mutation in *Tulipa* sp. cv. 'Fantasy' in 1936 (reported in 1945). The most successful story of mutation breeding is "Horim" group of chrysanthemum mutants in the Netherlands, which in 1979 took as much as 35% of the total Dutch market of 500 million plants (Broertjes *et al.* 1980).

Mutation breeding, in the beginning, was based primarily upon X-rays, but now mainly gamma rays (gamma rays have induced about 70% of the world's mutant varieties) and to a smaller extent fast or thermal neutrons also started to be used. Detrimental effects of ionizing radiations motivated a number of researchers to use chemical mutagens and more and more chemicals were identified as possessing mutagenic properties. Several chemicals were found to be more powerful in terms of high mutation rates than ionizing radiation (Roebbelen 1959; Ehrenberg et al. 1961; Auerbach 1961; Konzak et al. 1965; Rapoport et al 1966). Various chemical mutagens give higher mutation rates; some produce a higher ratio of gene mutations vs. deletions or other chromosome mutations. However, there are several practical problems with chemical mutagens (soaking seeds, penetration to the relevant target cells, safety of handling and disposal, poor reproducibility, persistence of the mutagen or its metabolites), which may compensate the advantages (FAO/IAEA 1977). But the optimistic expectations soon faded away and chemical mutagens were considered to be one of several means for inducing genetic variation.

Ornamental plants comprise diverse groups including flowering and foliage pot plants, cut flower crops, tuber and bulb crops, annual and perennial garden plants as well as trees and shrubs. Mutation induction techniques have been applied to all these groups. The application of mutation induction techniques has been limited in seed propagated ornamentals as compared to vegetatively propagated species. Induced mutations in ornamentals comprise traits, such as altered flower characters (colour, size, morphology, fragrance); leaf characters (form, size, pigmentation); growth habit (compact, climbing, branching) and physiological traits such as changes in photoperiodic response, early flowering, free-flowering, flower keeping quality, and tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses.

The use of induced mutations has over the past 50 years played a major role in the development of superior crop varieties resulted in the official release of over 3000 new crop varieties in some 170 species including both seed and vegetatively propagated crops. Classical induced mutagenesis has successfully produced quite a large number of new varieties in different ornamental plants. Total number of new mutant ornamental varieties developed throughout the world is available in IAEA, Vienna Mutant Database. However, few important references are mentioned on some important ornamentals as a ready reference. Attempts have been made to highlight different important basic aspects which may be helpful as guideline for large scale mutagenesis work on ornamental crops. Broertjes (1976) studied effects of mutagenesis on auto-tetraploid Achimenes. Broertjes (1971) also studied effects of fractionated dose and different basic aspects of radiation-induced changes in African violet. Broertjes and Verboom (1974) treated young rhizomes of diploid and triploid cultivars of Alstroemeria and detected solid mutants. A number of mutants with changed flower colour were detected after irradiation in Amaryllis (Hippeastrum) (Kaicker and Singh 1979). Higher mutation frequency and spectrum and solid mutants could be induced after irradiating leaves of triploid hybrids of Begonia (Doorenbos and Karper 1975; Doorenbos 1973). Several mutants have also been developed after irradiation and commercialized in Begonia (Matsubara et al 1975; Mikkelsen et al. 1975; Harney 1976; Molnar 1976; Anonymous 1977; Lin and Molnar 1983). The suitable dose of gamma rays for irradiation of stem cuttings of Bougainvillea has been standardized from 250 to 1250 rads (Datta 1992c). Radiosensitivity of large number of Bougainvillea cultivars to gamma rays has been determined for large scale induced mutagenesis experiments (Jayanthi et al. 1999; Srivastava et al 2002). Four gamma ray induced mutants have been released by Abraham and Desai (1977). Most promising and beautiful chlorophyll variegated mutants 'Arjuna', 'Pallavi', 'Mahara Variegata', and 'Los Banos Variegata' induced after gamma irradiation have been commercialized (Gupta and Nath 1977; Datta and Banerjee 1990, 1994). For induction of mutation X- or gamma-rays (5-30 Gy) has been used and their effects on rhizomes of Canna cultivars with different

ploidy level have been reported (Nakornthap 1965; Gupta 1966; Mukherjee and Khoshoo 1970; Desai and Abraham 1974). Induction of somatic flower colour mutation in carnation was first reported by Richter and Singleton (1995). Induced mutation frequency and other morphological alterations in carnation using medium to a high radiation dose created interest on mutagensis work in ornamentals (Sagawa and Mehlquist 1956, 1957, 1959; Sagawa 1957; Mehlquist and Sagawa 1962; Searnaaij and Demmink 1970, 1971; Searnaaij 1974; Sparnaaj et al. 1974; Richter and Singleton 1995). Voluminous work has been done on Chrysanthemum morifolium Ramat. for its improvement through induced mutagensis using a wide range of physical and chemical mutagenes (Datta and Gupta 1980, 1983; Broertjes and Van Harten 1988; Datta 1988; Shukla and Datta 1993; Datta 2001; Teixeira da Silva 2003; Datta and Teixeira da Silva 2006). Early reports indicated that some of the cultivars withstood 3000R x-rays and the optimum dose lay between 2000-4000 rad (Jank 1957a, 1957b; Sheehan and Sagawa 1959; Fuji and Mabuchi 1961; Bowen et al. 1962; Dowrick and El-Bayomi 1966a, 1966b). Some authors, however, used higher doses like 8-25 Krad gamma rays (Cawse 1966; Yamakawa and Sekiguchi 1968; Broertjes 1966). The optimum dose of gamma rays for inducing mutations has been reported to be 1.5 to 2.5 Krad for small flowered chrysanthemum (Datta 1990a, 1992a, 1992b). Radiosensitivity of chrysanthemum has been very critically determined on the basis of chromosomal aberrations as the end point, flower colour, size and shape, chromosome number, Interphase Nuclear Volume (INV), Interphase Chromosome Volume (ICV) and 2c DNA content (Datta and Banerji 1991; Datta 1992a; 2001; Banerji and Datta 1993; Yamaguchi et al. 2008). It has been very clearly determined that radiosensitivity in the garden chrysanthemum is a genotype dependent mechanism. Experimental results have proved that all colours of chrysanthemum including white and yellow are mutable (Jank 1957; Bowen 1965; Datta 1985). Several mutations were detected after irradiation of young tubers of cyclamen (Breider 1959). Variegated and dwarf-type mutants have been reported in Coleus after treating cuttings with gamma rays and fast neutron (Love and Mullenax 1964; Love and Constantin 1966; Love and Malone 1967). A number of flower colour mutants have been developed and commercialized in Dahlia variabilis using radiation (Grabowska and Mynett 1964; Broertjes and Ballego 1967, 1968; Lantin and Decourtye 1970; Das et al. 1974, 1975, 1977, 1978; Dube et al. 1980). Rooted cuttings of Euphorbia splendens were treated with gamma rays and mutants with changed leaf form and colour were detected (Koo and Cuevas-Ruiz 1974). Both physical and chemical mutagens have been successfully used for the induction of mutation in Gladiolus. Physical mutagens like gamma rays, X-rays, fast neutron, thermal neutrons and electric shock and chemical mutagens like aluminium chloride, colchicine, diethyl sulfate, formaline, glycol, methyl methanesulfonate (MMS), dimethyl sulfate, ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS), nitroso dimethyl urea (NDMU), N-nitroso-N-ethylurethan (NEU) and N-nitroso-N-methylurethan (NMU) were used for mutation studies which have already been reviewed (Buiatti and Tesi 1968; Banerji et al. 1981; Banerjee and Datta 1987, 2001). Mutants with changed flower colour and form were induced in 'Alipur Beauty' and 'Cruenthus' cultivars of hibiscus (Hibiscus rosa-sinensis) using semi-acute gamma rays (Das et al. 1974, 1977). Five petalled single flower type mutant has been induced in double flower type cv. 'Alipur Beauty' treating stem cuttings with 4 krad gamma rays (Banerjee and Datta 1986). EMS induced dwarf mutant has been induced in *Impatiens platypetala* after treating seeds with EMS (Weigle and Butler 1983). X-ray was successfully used for inducing mutation in Kalanchoe (Johnson 1948; Broertjes and Leffring 1972; Nakornthap 1973, 1974). Izuka and Ireda (1963, 1968) studied effects of X-ray on different characters of Lilium formosanum. Mutants with changed flower colour and low light tolerant have been induced by treating bulb scale of different Lilium hybrids

(Broertjes and Alkema 1970). Stem cuttings of Perennial portulaca were treated with gamma rays for induction of mutation (Banerjee 1967; Cotter 1963; Gupta 1966, 1970; Lata and Gupta 1971; Desai 1974; Abraham and Desai 1978; Raghuvanshi and Singh 1979; Tangsombatvitchit et al. 2008). Seven mutant varieties have been released (Gupta 1966; Desai 1973, 1974). Mishra and Raghuvanshi (1986) used gamma rays, EMS and combined treatment and detected different variants affecting different floral characters and isolated stable mutants with changed flower colour in Portulaca gradiflora. Younis and Borham (1975) used 500 to 3000 rad of gamma rays and induced genetical and morphological variability in Polianthes tuberosa L. Abraham and Desai (1976) used X-rays, neutron and gamma rays separately and their combinations and studied their effects on vegetative characters and flower of single and double type tuberose. Patil et al. (1975) induced one large flower mutant using 0.5 Krad gamma rays. Two chlorophyll varie-gated mutants using 2.5 krad gamma rays have been developed and released (Gupta et al. 1974). Extensive studies have been carried out on *Tulipa* mainly towards bulb size, ploidy level and optimum working dose for inducing mutations (Matsuda 1942; Myodo 1942; De Mol 1949; Nybom 1961; Matsubara et al. 1965; Nezu 1965; Grabowska and Mynett 1970; Custers et al. 1977; Matsubara 1982; Broertjes and Van Harten 1988). Induced mutagensis work has been very successful in rose and quite a large number of new varieties with changed flower colour and shape and growth habit of plant have been developed using both physical (x-ray, gamma ray) and chemical (EMS, NMU, EI) mutagens (Nakajima 1965, 1970, 1973; Chan 1966; Dommergues et al. 1967; Streitberg 1967; Kaicker and Swarup 1972; Usenbaev and Imankulova 1974; Gupta and Datta 1982; Gupta et al. 1982; Kaicker 1982, 1986; Datta and Gupta 1984a, 1985a Kaicker and Dhyani 1985; Huang and Chen 1986; Datta 1986a, 1986b, 1987b, 1989, 1997b). Datta (1986b) used recurrent gamma irradiation for induction of mutation in rose. He found cumulative effects on sprouting, survival and plant height. Percentage of somatic mutations and spectrum of mutations were higher after recurrent irradiation in comparison to single irradiation (Datta 1994; Datta and Gupta 1985a). Colchicine for the first time has been used to induce flower colour mutations in rose (Gupta and Datta 1983; Datta and Gupta 1985b). Yearround flowering mutant has been reported in Streptocarpus (Brown 1974; Davis and Hedley 1975; Van Raalte and Van Raalte-Wichers 1974).

#### **Recurrent irradiation**

Recurrent irradiation means irradiating plant materials that had already been irradiated in one or more subsequent generations for expanding more genetic variability which otherwise is not possible through single irradiation. For accumulating and expanding genetic variability, use of recurrent irradiation in breeding programme has been proposed long back (Freisleben and Lein 1943a, 1943b; Khadr and Frey 1965; Brock and Shaw 1969; Micke 1969; Walther 1974). Recurrent irradiation experiment with chrysanthemum and rose result more genetic variability and increased percentage of mutations and spectrum of mutations. It is advised that recurrent mutagen treatment may provide an even greater range of genetic variability than would a single mutagen treatment in vegetatively propagated ornamentals. This method can be successfully used in routine mutagenesis programme for inducing novelties in flower colour/ shape (Datta 1986a, 1986b, 1991).

#### Colchicine as a mutagen

Colchicine has been used for a long time as a polyploidizing agent. Normally in colchiploidy breeding attention is paid to chromosome duplication and its effects on phenotype. Much attention has not been paid to mutations through colchicine treatment, which has already been possible in several crop plants (Datta 1976, 1990b). Colchicine has been successfully used for inducing somatic flower colour mutations in chrysanthemum (Datta and Gupta 1984b, 1987) and rose (Gupta and Datta 1983; Datta and Gupta 1985b). A colchicines-induced mutant of chrysanthemum has been released in the name of Colchi Bahar (Datta 1987b). It may be pointed out that normally after colchicine treatment attention is paid to chromosome duplications and its effect on phenotype. When there is no polyploid formation and when there is no gigantism in desired characters in induced polypoid in particular taxa, colchicine breeding is through to be unsuccessful. But careful observations have led to the understanding that although colchicine is known more familiarly as a polyploidizing agent, it may also be used as a very good mutagen (Datta 1990b).

#### **Combined treatment**

Greater stress is now given to the use of combined treatment of physical and chemical mutagens. It has been shown that radiation-induced genetic damage and mutation frequencies can be modified and influenced by treatment of seeds with chemicals before or after irradiation (D'Amato and Gustafsson 1948; Gustafsson and Nybom 1949; Ehrenberg *et al.* 1952; Gaul 1958; Bose and Banerjee 1968; Sree Ramulu 1971; Bose and Maiti 1972; Jana *et al.* 1974; Killion and Constantin 1974). Such modifications of mutation process may open the way for directing and controlling the production of desirable mutants in ornamentals (Misra and Raghuvanshi 1986; Datta 1997a).

#### INDUCED MUTAGENESIS IN CROSS BREEDING

It has been realized that use of induced mutagenesis in various cross-breeding programme is more important than the direct use of mutants and the number of mutant cultivars steadily increased from cross-breeding combinations involving induced mutants. Various possible cross-combinations like 'crossing the mutants with the original parents variety or line', 'crossing different mutants from the same parent lines', 'crossing the mutants with a different variety or line', 'crossing two varieties apparently carrying the same mutant' etc. have been recommended (Micke 1968, 1969; Romer and Micke 1974; Micke *et al.* 1985; Datta 2005).

#### ACUTE AND CHRONIC IRRADIATIONS

Experimental results indicate that plants are differentially sensitive to acute (gamma chamber/room) and chronic (gamma field) radiation separately and in combination of both methods. Chronic irradiation has resulted in maximum mutation frequency and spectrum in chrysanthemum over acute irradiation (Nagatomi and Degi 2009). This technique has been successfully applied and developed a number of useful mutant varieties in ornamentals and other crops (Broertjes 1971; Nagatomi 1991; 1992; 2002; Nagatomi *et al.* 1993; Richter and Singleton 1995; Nagatomi *et al.* 1996).

#### IN VITRO ADVENTITIOUS BUD TECHNIQUE

Many plants can be propagated by different types of adventitious plantlets. Adventitious buds can be stimulated either on roots (*Phlox*), bulbs (*Hyacinthus*) or leaves (*Begonia*, *Saintpaulia*, *Streptocarpus*) or bulb scales (*Lilium*). The most important but disadvantageous result is that the majority of the adventitious shoots proved to be of a chimeral nature and obviously develop from more than one cell. Technique has been standardized for development of *in vitro* adventitious bud using different types of explants. This technique was found to produce solid mutants in different vegetatively propagated ornamentals like *Kohleria* (Geier 1988), *Achimenes* (Broertjes 1973), *Begonia* (Brown and Harney 1974; Mikkelsen and Sink 1978; Roest *et al.* 1981; Broertjes 1982a), *Chrysanthemum morifolium* (Broertjes and Roest 1976; Broertjes *et al.* 1976), *Gerbera jamesonii* (Jerzy and Lubomski 1991), *Kalanchoe* (Broertjes and Leffring 1972; Nakornthap 1974; Shama Rao and Singh 1976; Shama Rao 1977; Karper and Pierik 1981; Van Dordrecht 1984), *Pelargonium* (Grunewaldt 1983), *Saintpaulia* (Broertjes 1972), *Streptocarpus* (Broertjes 1969, 1982b), etc. About 350 plant species belonging to various plant families were detected to develop adventitious plantlets (Broertjes *et al.* 1968). Adventitious bud technique in which the buds develop directly from one or a restricted number of epidermal cells was found to be very useful in producing mutants which are either solid or have large mutated sectors. But the application of this technique is limited.

#### **DETECTION OF MUTATIONS**

Somatic mutations in vegetatively propagated plants are mostly detected in first vegetative generation  $M_1V_1$ . Reports are also available that mutations have been detected in  $M_1V_2$ ,  $M_1V_3$  and later vegetative generations from normal looking irradiated plants in  $M_1V_1$  (Buiatti and Tesi 1968; Das *et al.* 1974; Usenbaev and Imankulova 1974; Gupta and Jugran 1978; Datta 1992a). It has been observed that chances of getting solid mutants are more in  $M_1V_2$  and later generations. Screening for mutations should not be confined to  $M_1V_1$  only, but it should be continued in  $M_1V_2$  and subsequent vegetative generations. The mutated cell expresses its mutant character if it gets chance to express in  $M_1V_1$ . The mutated cells of the lower auxiliary buds remain in the dormant stage and express its mutant character when included during vegetative propagation in  $M_1V_2$  (Datta 2001).

#### CHLOROPHYLL VARIEGATION

Chlorophyll variegated leaves provide additional beauty to the plants at the time of blooming and even when there is no flower. Plants with variegated leaves have considerable economic importance in floriculture trade due to their decorative foliage (Datta 1998, 2006b, 2009c). A number of promising chlorophyll variegated mutants have been developed through gamma irradiation and commercialized in bougainvillea (Abraham and Desai 1977; Banerji and Datta 1987; Datta and Banerji 1990, 1994; Datta 1992c) and *Lantana depressa* (Datta 1995).

#### MUTATION IN FLOWER MORPHOLOGY

Radiation induced phenotypic variation including several interesting changes in flower form for novelties have been reported. A number of interesting morphological changes in flower forms have been reported after treatment of seeds of annual chrysanthemum with x-ray doses (Jain et al. 1961; Rana 1964, 1965). Commercial varieties with interesting changed flower morphology have been released in Portulaca (Gupta 1979), Begonia, Chrysanthemum, Petunia and Hyacinthus (Broertjes 1966; Broertjes and van Harten 1988) and carnation (Simard et al. 1992; Cassels and Walsh 1993). A single flower form mutant has been developed after treatment with gamma rays in double flower type *Hibiscus* cv. 'Alipur Beauty' (Banerji and Datta 1988). Series of mutants with changed flower type have been developed in chrysanthemum after gamma irradiation (Datta and Gupta 1984c; Datta et al. 1985; Datta 1990c; Banerji and Datta 1992; Datta and Banerji 1993; Banerji and Datta, 2002, 2003). A mutant with altered plant morphology was detected in Torenia fournieri (Sawangmee et al. 2011).

#### **MUTANT OF A MUTANT**

Mutant genotypes can be further improved through mutation and new mutant characters can be developed. Geier (1988) treated mutant Kohleri with N-nitrosomethylurea (NMU) and induced a compact type mutant. Broertjes *et al.* (1980) were successful to develop hundreds of mutants by successive use of radiation induced mutants of chrysanthemum cv. 'Horim'. Datta (1985, 1996) used mutant genotypes (gamma ray induced mutants) of chrysanthemum and developed new flower colour mutants. Datta and Shukla (1996) treated bulbs of two gamma ray induced chlorophyll variegated mutants ('Rajat Rekha' and 'Svarna Rekha') of *Polianthes tuberosa* L. with 500 and 1000 rads of gamma rays and successfully induced new pattern of chlorophyll variegated mutants.

### IN VITRO MUTAGENESIS AND MANAGEMENT OF CHIMERAS

The main bottlenecks in mutation breeding of vegetatively propagated plants i.e. treatment (physical and/or chemical mutagens) of bulbs, tubers, rhizomes, cuttings/suckers, other plant parts or whole plants all having buds with multicellular apices composed of a number of fairly autonomous cell layers, automatically leads to the formation of chimeras. In multicellular organisms, after irradiation of a multicellular apex, such mutated cell is exposed to the so called diplontic selection i.e. the competition between the mutated cell and the surrounding non-mutated ones. The mutated cell develops a group of cells and finally a cell layer. The final result of a diplontic selection is a low number of mutated plants and a restricted mutation spectrum (Gaul 1961). A large number of chimeric new flower colour/shape mutants are lost every year from mutagenesis experiments. Therefore, concept of in vitro mutagenesis developed which has opened new possibilities for inducing increased number of mutants and solid mutants. The main advantage of this technique is to overcome chimera formation. In vitro mutagenesis experiments can be conducted with large population, within limited space and any time of the year. The chance of getting solid mutant is more in in vitro mutagenesis. Protocol has already been standardized for in vitro regeneration of chrysanthemum (Ben Jacob and Langhans 1972; Earle and Langhans 1974; Lu et al. 1990; Malaure et al. 1991a, 1991b; Nagatomi et al. 1993). The main advantage of this method is that it helps to avoid chimera formation in the M<sub>1</sub>V<sub>1</sub> (Maliga 1984; Ahloowalia 1995; Maluszynski et al. 1995). Efficient technique has been standardized by the author and his team for direct shoot regeneration from individual floret of chrysanthemum and a number of new flower colour/shape mutations have been isolated through management of induced and spontaneous mutant chimeric tissues (Chakrabarty et al. 1999, 2000; Mandal et al. 2000a, 2000b; Datta et al. 2001). A series of papers have been published on in vitro mutagenesis experiments on Saintpaulia and Pelargonium (Skirvin and Janick 1976; Grunewaldt 1983, 1988), carnation (Johnson 1980; Simard et al. 1992; Cassells and Walsh 1993), chrysanthemum (Jung-Heiliger and Horn 1980; Preil et al. 1983; Huitema et al. 1986; Dalsou and Short 1987; Huitema et al. 1989; Jerzy 1990; Jerzy and Zalewska 1996; Schum and Preil 1998; Mishra et al. 2003; Datta and Mandal 2005), Eustoma grandiflorum (Nagatomi et al. 1996), Gerbera and Rosa spp. (Walther and Sauer 1986a, 1986b; Laneri et al 1990; Jerzy and Lubomski 1991; Jerzy and Zalewska 1992).

#### ION BEAM TECHNOLOGY

Ion beam technology was found to show high relative biological effectiveness (RBE) compared to low linear energy transfer (LET) radiation such as gamma rays, X-rays and electrons (Blakely 1992) and basic research on plant mutation by ion beams began in 1991 (Goodhead 1995; Nakai 1995; Feng *et al.* 2006, 2009). Ion beam, as a new mutation technique, has been widely used in mutation breeding, and great achievements have been made in agriculture (Watanabe 2001; Okamura 2006; Tanaka 2009; Tanaka *et al.* 2010). Effects of ion beams have been investigated on several plants including few ornamentals like chrysanthemum (Nagatomi *et al.* 1996; Ueno *et al.* 2002, 2004; Ikegami *et al.* 2005; Matsumura *et al.* 2010), carnation (Okamura *et al.* 2003), petunia (Okamura *et al.* 2006), rose (Yamaguchi *et*  al. 2003), Torenia (Miyazaki et al. 2006; Sasaki et al. 2008), Lotus (Oka-Kira et al. 2005) and Cyclamen (Sugiyama et al. 2008), etc. Ion beam technology has been further modified as ion beam implantation into organisms. Ion implantation could become a new mutation technique. The interactions between the implanted ions and complicated organisms have been studied intensively (Yang et al. 2007). They have proposed that a combination of energy absorption, mass deposition, and charge transfer of energetic ions in the seeds resulted in the biological effects. It has been reported that targeted ion implantation of shoot apical meristems of Arabidopsis embryos induces long-distance systemic effects on root apical meristems (Feng et al. 2009). The implantation of ions with different mass could lead to biological effects at different levels. The energies of the ion-induced fragment ions and emitted electrons are particularly important in the mechanism of long-distance damage in ion implantation of an organism. If the energy of emitted fragments is sufficiently high, these fragments will induce further damage to surrounding molecules. Since the biological organisms are not good electrical conductors, the accumulated surface charge is not immediately released. The long term accumulation of surface charge not only affects the electrical characteristics of biological organisms, but also may lead to changing an electrostatic field across the cellular membrane, influencing various biochemical processes (Feng et al. 2009). It has been reported that targeted ion implantation of the shoot apical meristem of Arabidopsis embryos induced damage to the root apical meristem indicating long distance systemic effects in intact organisms. Similar to other radiation, there are many coexisting factors, including energy, mass and charge of the implanted ions, having an effect on biological effects, making it difficult to distinguish between direct and indirect effects of these factors (Schlatholter et al. 2005; Feng et al. 2006; Huang et al. 1996; Yang et al. 2007; Feng et al. 2009).

#### SPACE BREEDING

Space breeding has been set up to enhance genetic diversity to breed new crop varieties (Halstead and Dutcher 1987; Dutcher et al. 1994; Liu and Zheng 1997; Mei et al. 1998; Liu et al. 2000, 2004, 2007). Strong cosmic radiation, microgravity, weak geomagnetic fields, and a hyper-clean super-vacuum are the main characteristics of the aerospace environment. Experimental results showed that space conditions are mutagenic. It affects on seed germination and plant growth and induces cytological aberrations. The frequency of morphological and cytological aberrations was higher when seeds were kept for longer time in space (Halstead and Dutcher 1987; Gu and Shen 1989; Mei et al. 1998). Combined effects of both cosmic radiation and microgravity are the main causes of the genetic changes. Strong vibration and blast force associated with spacecraft launch and landing also play as casual agents contributing to the increased frequency of chromosomal aberrations during space flight (Halstead and Dutcher 1987; Liu and Zheng 1997; Gu and Shen 1989). China has conducted space-induced mutagenesis over 2,000 accessions of plant seeds belonging to 133 species using recoverable satellites, Shenzhou spacecrafts and high-altitude balloons (Liu et al. 2007) and approved, approximately, 66 new varieties developed by the space-breeding programme (Qiu et al. 1998; Shi et al. 2000; Liu et al. 2005). Space-induced mutation can be a novel and effective way to enhance genetic diversity from which to breed new crop varieties. Because of the need for major investment and technological support, the chance of space flight experimentation is very limited. Therefore, sustainable progress and future perspective of space-induced mutagenesis for crop improvement depends upon international cooperation (Liu et al. 2009).

## TARGETING INDUCED LOCAL LESIONS IN GENOMES (TILLING)

Targeting Induced Local Lesions in Genomes (TILLING) is one of the high-throughput, non-transgenic reverse-genetic approaches technique combining chemical mutagenesis with a sensitive DNA screening-technique that enables the recovery of individuals carrying allelic variants at candidate genes (McCallum et al. 2000a, 2000b; Ostergaard and Yanofsky 2004; Slade and Knauf 2005; Slade et al. 2005; Alonso and Ecker 2006; Till et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2009). TILLING combines traditional mutagenesis followed by high-throughput mutation discovery which can improve the efficiency of using induced mutations to develop crops with improved traits (McCallum et al. 2000a; Colbert et al. 2001). It is an efficient early-screening tool for specific point mutations in genes of interest from a small population and enables geneticists to analyze gene function and associate genotype with phenotype. It is useful in scanning gamma-irradiated mutant populations (Sato et al. 2006). The technique is yet to be applied to ornamental crops.

# ENDONUCLEOLYTIC MUTATION ANALYSIS BY INTERNAL LABELLING (EMAIL)

For detecting the rare mutations in specific genes in pooled samples, an improved technique 'Endonucleolytic Mutation Analysis by Internal Labelling' (EMAIL) has been developed using capillary electrophoresis which offers an increased degree of sensitivity. This technique is highly improved over TILLING approach and offers the plant breeder a new tool for efficient screening of induced point mutation at an early stage for variants in genes of specific interest before taking plants to field trial (Cordeiro *et al.* 2006; Cross *et al.* 2008; Lee *et al.* 2009). This new technique offers an increased degree of sensitivity in detection and provides information to assist the molecular characterization of mutations in specific genes of interest. The technique is yet to be applied to ornamental crops (Lee *et al.* 2009).

#### CONCLUSION

From the present review it is very clear that majority of commercial varieties of ornamental species have been developed through conventional breeding, induced mutation and selection. Induced mutagenesis at its present status appears to be well standardized, efficient and cost effective. Although mutation breeding is a random (chance) process, reports are available for directive mutation (Datta 1990a, 1990d, 2001, 2005). At this stage it is possible to increase the rate of mutant development by combining the classical mutation breeding and advanced technique. This concept has been clearly proved by the management of chimera through direct regeneration from petals of chrysanthemum (Chakrabarty et al. 1999, 2000; Mandal et al. 2000a). Classical mutagenesis combined with management of chimera and in vitro mutagenesis are now well standardized and most promising techniques for development of new and novel varieties (Datta and Chakrabarty 2005).

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks are due to The Director, National Botanical Research Institute, Lucknow for providing facilities for doing experimental research on induced mutagenesis. The author thankfully acknowledges the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, New Delhi for providing an Emeritus Scientist Fellowship. Thanks are due to the Director, Bose Institute, Kolkata for providing present working facilities. The author thanks Dr. Jaime A. Teixeira da Silva for making significant improvements to language, content and style.

#### REFERENCES

- Abraham V, Desai BM (1976) Radiation-induced mutants in tuberose. Indian Journal Genetics Plant Breeding 36 (3), 328-331
- Abraham V, Desai BM (1977) Radiation induced variegation mutants in Bougainvillea, Current Science 46 (10), 351-352
- Abraham V, Desai BM (1978) New induced mutants in *Portulaca grandiflora* Hook. *Mutation Breeding Newsletter* **11**, 10
- Ahloowalia BS (1995) In vitro mutagenesis for the improvement of vegetatively propagated plants. In: Induced Mutations and Molecular Techniques for Crop Improvement, Proceedings of a Symposium, IAEA and FAO, Vienna, 19-23 June, pp 531-541
- Ahloowalia BS, Maluszynski M, Nichterlein K (2004) Global impact of mutation-derived varieties. *Euphytica* 135, 187-204
- Alonso J, Ecker J (2006) Moving forward in reverse: Genetic technologies to enable genome-wide phenomic screens in Arabidopsis. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 7, 524-536
- Anonymous (1977) List of mutant varieties. *Mutation Breeding Newsletter* 9 (1), 14-17
- Anonymous (1994) List of new mutant. *Mutation Breeding Newsletter* **39**, 14-33
- Auerbach C (1961) Chemicals and their effects. In: *Mutation and Plant Breed*ing, (Proceedings Symposium Cornell University, Ithaca, N.Y.,USA, 1990), Publ. 891, Washington D.C., USA, National Academy of Sciences-National Research Council, pp 120-144
- Banerjee SK (1967) Effect of gamma radiation on the some perennial ornamentals. Indian Journal Genetics Plant Breeding 27 (3), 417-422
- Banerjee BK, Datta SK (1986) Induction of single flower mutant in *Hibiscus* cv. Alipur beauty. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* **15**, 237-240
- Banerjee BK, Datta SK (1987) Physical mutagenesis in gladiolus A review. North American Gladiolus Council Bulletin 87 (170), 90-96
- Banerji BK, Datta SK (1988) 'Anjali' A new gamma ray iinduced single flower mutant of *Hibiscus*. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* 17 (2), 113-114
- Banerji BK, Datta SK (1993) Varietal differences in radiosensitivity of garden chrysanthemum. *The Nucleus* **36 (3)**, 114-117
- Banerjee BK, Datta SK (2001) Mutagenesis in Gladiolus A review: Exploring the Gladiolus in India. In: Datta SK (Ed) Proceedings of the National Conference on Gladiolus, 24-25 Jan. 2000, National Botanical Research Institute, Lucknow, India, Economic Botany Information Service, NBRI, Lucknow, India, pp 24-38
- Banerji BK, Datta SK (2002) Induction and analysis of gamma ray induced flower head shape mutation in chrysanthemum cv. 'Lalima'. *Indian Journal* of Agricultural Sciences 72 (1), 6-10
- Banerji BK, Datta SK (2003) Tubular flower head mutation in chrysanthemum. Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology 32 (1), 56-59
- Banerji BK, Gupta MN, Datta SK (1981) Effects of gamma irradiation on Gladiolus L. II Cytomoprhological studies on Gladiolus psittacinus var. Hookeri cv. Orange. North American Gladiolus Council Bulletin 148, 50-57
- Banerji BK, Datta SK (1992) Gamma ray induced flower shape mutation in chrysanthemum cv. 'Jaya'. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* 21 (2), 73-79
- Banerjee BK, Datta SK (1993) Varietal differences in radiosensitivity of garden chrysanthemum. *The Nucleus* 36 (3), 114-117
- Ben-Jaacov J, Langhans RW (1972) Rapid multiplication of chrysanthemum plants by stem tip proliferation. *HortScience* 7, 289-290
- Bhatia CR (1991) Economic Impact of Mutant Varieties in India. Plant Mutation Breeding for Crop Improvement, IAEA, Vienna, pp 33-45
- Blakely EA (1992) Cell inactivation by heavy charged particles. *Radiation and Environmental Biophysics* **31**, 181-196
- **Bose S, Matti SN** (1972) Effects of treatments of X-rays and colchicines on tomato. *Nucleus* **15**, 22-30
- Bose S, Banerjee B (1968) Effects of treatments of X-rays and colchicines on tomato. *Nucleus* 11 (2), 160-169
- Bowen HJM (1965) Mutations in horticultural chrysanthemum. *Radiation Botany* **5** (Suppl.), 695-700
- Bowen HJM, Cawse PA, Dick MJ (1962) The induction of sports in chrysanthemum by gamma irradiation. *Radiation Botany* **1**, 297-303
- Breider H (1959) Ronteginduzierte Mutationen bei Vitis, Malus and Cyclamen. Bayer. Landwirtschenschaft Jahrboek 36 (4), 396-401
- Brock RD, Shaw HF (1969) Responses to a second cycle of mutagenic treatment in Arabidopsis thaliana. In: Induced Mutations in Plants, Proceedings of a Symposium, Pullman (1969), IAEA, Vienna, pp 457-466
- Broertjes C (1966) Mutation breeding of chrysanthemum. *Euphytica* 15, 156-162
- Broertjes C (1968) Mutation breeding of vegetatively propagated crops. In: 5<sup>th</sup> Congress of the European Association for Research on Plant Breeding, 30.9-2.10, Milano, pp 139-165
- Broertjes C (1969) Mutation breeding of Streptocarpus. Euphytica 18, 333-339
- **Broertjes C** (1971) Dose-fractionation studies and radiation-induced phenomena in African violet. In: Benson DW, Sparrow AH (Eds) *Survival of Food Crops and Livestock in the Mission*, Oak Ridge, TN, pp 325-342
- Broertjes C (1972) Use in plant breeding of acutem chronic of fractionated

doses of X-rays or fast neutrons as illustrated with leaves of *Saintpaulia*. PhD thesis, Agriculture Publication Document, Wageningen, Agriculture Resistant Report, pp 774-776

- Broertjes C (1973) Achimenes en Streptocarpus. Nieuwe varieteiten door bestraling en colchicinebehandeling. Vakkblad voor de Bloemisterij 28, 11-28
- **Broertjes C** (1976) Mutation breeding of auto-tetraploid *Achimenes* cultivars. *Euphytica* **25**, 297-304
- Broertjes C (1982a) The significance of *in vitro* adventitious bud techniques for mutation breeding of vegetatively propagated crops. In: *Induced Mutation in Vegetatively Propagated Plants II*, Vienna, Austria, IAEA, Vienna, pp 1-10
- Broertjes C (1982b) Interessante ontwikkelingen in sortiment Streptocarpus. Vakkblad Voor de Bloemisterij 10, 36-37
- Broertjes C, Alkema HY (1970) Mutation breeding of flower bulbs. In: First Institute Symposium. Flower Bulbs (Vol 2), Noordwijk Lisse, pp 407-411
- Broertjes C, Ballego JM (1967) Mutation breeding of *Dahlia variabilis*. *Euphytica* **16**, 171-176
- Broertjes C, Ballego JM (1968) Addendum to: Mutation breeding of Dahlia variabilis. Euphytica 17, 507
- Broertjes C, Haccius B, Weidlich S (1968) Adventitious bud formation on isolated leaves and its significance for mutation breeding. *Euphytica* 17, 321-344
- Broertjes C, Leffring L (1972) Mutation breeding of *Kalanchoe. Euphytica* 21, 415-423
- Broertjes C, Roest S (1976) Mutation breeding of *Chrysanthemum morifolium* Ramat. using *in vivo* and *in vitro* adventitious bud technique. *Euphytica* 22, 11-19
- Broertjes C, Roest S, Bokelmann GS (1976) Mutation breeding of Chrysanthemum morifolium Ramat. using in vivo and in vitro adventitious bud technique. Euphytica 25, 11-19
- Broertjes C, Van Harten AM (1978) Application of Mutation Breeding Methods in the Improvement of Vegetatively Propagated Crops, Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company, Amsterdam, 353 pp
- Broertjes C, Koene P, Van Veen JWH (1980) A mutant of a mutant of a mutant of a ... Irradiation of progressive radiation induced mutants in a mutation breeding programme with *Chrysanthemum morifolium* Ramat. *Euphytica* **29** (3), 525-530
- Broertjes C, Van Harten AM (1988) Applied Mutation Breeding for Vegetatively Propagated Crops, Elsevier Scientific Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 345 pp
- Broertjes C, Verboom H (1974) Mutation breeding of *Alstroemeria*. *Euphytica* 23, 39-44
- Brown AG (1974) Streptocarpus The Development of a New Commercial Pot Plant. The Glasshouse Environment and Objective in Breeding New varieties of Ornamental Crops. Euparpia Meeting on Ornamentals, Norwich. John Innes Institute Annals Report 66, 43 pp
- Brown JL, Harney PM (1974) Induction of non-chimaeral mutants in *Begonia*. HortScience 9 (3), 276
- Buiatti M, Tesi R (1968) Gladiolus Improvement Through Radiation Induced Somatic Mutation. Publication No. 1, Laboratorio di Mutagenesi e differeziamento del C.N.R., Pisa, pp 1-6
- Cassels AC, Walsh PC (1993) Diplontic selection as a positive factor in determining the fitness of mutants of *Dianthus* 'Mystere' derived from X- irradiation of nodes in *in vitro* culture. *Euphytica* 70, 167-174
- Cawse PA (1966) Using atomic radiation to produce colour sports in flowers. Commercial Growers 3660, 381
- Chakrabarty D, Mandal AKA, Datta SK (1999) Management of chimera through direct shoot regeneration from florets of chrysanthemum (Chrysanthemum morifolium Ramat). Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology 74 (3), 293-296
- Chakrabarty D, Mandal AKA, Datta SK (2000) Retrieval of new coloured chrysanthemum through organogeneis from sectorial chimeras. *Current Sci*ence 78 (9), 1059-1061
- Chan AP (1966) Chrysanthemum and rose mutations induced by X-rays. Proceedings of the American Society for Horticultural Science 88, 613-620
- Colbert T, Till BJ, Tompa R, Reynolds S, Steine MN, Yeung AT, McCallum CM, Comai L, Henikoff S (2001) High-throughput screening for induced point mutations. *Plant Physiology* 126, 480-484
- Cordeiro G, Eliott FG, Henry RJ (2006) An optimized ecotilling protocol for polyploids or pooled samples using a capillary electrophoresis system. *Analytical Biochemistry* 355, 145-147
- Cotter DJ (1963) Effects of radiation on the photoperiodism of *Portulaca* smallii. Radiation Botany 3 (3), 265-269
- Cross MJ, Waters DLE, Lee LS, Henry RJ (2008) Endonucleolytic mutation analysis by internal labeling (EMAIL). *Electrophoresis* 29, 1291-1301
- Custers JBM, Van Eijk JP, Spranaay LD (1977) New developments in mutation breeding of vegetatively propagated ornamental crops with special reference to quantitative characters. In: Assoc. Euratom-ITAL (Ed) *The Use of Ionizing Radiation in Agriculture. Proceedings of a Workshop*, Wagenigen, (March 1976), pp 505-510
- D'Amato F, Gustafsson A (1948) Studies on the experimental control of the mutation process. *Hereditas* 34, 181-192
- Dalsou V, Short KC (1987) Selection for sodium chloride tolerance in chrysanthemum. Acta Horticulturae 212, 737-740

- Das PK, Ghosh P, Dube S, Dhua SP (1974) Induction of somatic mutations in some vegetatively propagated ornamentals by gamma irradiation. *Technology* (*Coimbatore, India*) 11 (2&3), 185-188
- Das PK, Dube S, Ghosh P, Datta SK (1975) Mutation breeding in Dahlia. Indian Journal Ornamental Horticulture 6 (2), 3-8
- Das PK, Dube S, Ghosh P, Dhua SP (1977) Improvement of some vegetatively propagated ornamental by gamma radiation. *Indian Journal of Horticulture* 34 (2), 169-174
- Das PK, Dube S, Dey AK (1978) New dahlias through irradiation. Indian Horticulture 23 (1), 19-21
- Datta SK (1976) Cytogenetical studies in *Trichosanthes anguina* Linn. PhD thesis, Calcutta University, Calcutta, India, 275 pp
- Datta SK (1984) Radiosensitivity. Everyman's Science 19, 269-273
- Datta SK (1985) Gamma ray induced mutant of a mutant chrysanthemum. Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology 14 (4), 131-133
- Datta SK (1986a) Improvement of miniature roses by gamma irradiation. *The Indian Rose Annual* V, 36-40
- Datta SK (1986b) Effects of recurrent gamma irradiation on rose cv. 'Contempo'. Journal Nuclear Agriculture Biology 15 (2), 125-127
- Datta SK (1987a) Sensitivity of garden roses to gamma irradiation. The Indian Rose Annual VI, 121-126
- Datta SK (1987b) 'Colchi Bahar' A new chrysanthemum cultivar evolved by colchi mutation. *The Chrysanthemum* 43 (1), 40
- Datta SK (1988) Chrysanthemum cultivars evolved by induced mutations at National Botanical Research Institute, Lucknow. *The Chrysanthemum* 44 (1), 72-75
- Datta SK (1989) Gamma ray induced somatic mutations in roses. *Mutation Breeding Newsletter*, IAEA, Vienna, Issue No. 33, 17-18
- Datta SK (1990a) Induction and analysis of somatic mutations in garden Chrysanthemum. Advances in Horticulture and Forestry 1, Article No. 31, 241-254
- Datta SK (1990b) Colchicine induced mutations in seed and vegetatively propagated plants. *Journal of Indian Botanical Society* **69**, 261-266
- Datta SK (1990c) 'Shabnam'- A gamma ray induced new chrysanthemum cultivar with new characters. *The Chrysanthemum* **46** (4), 168-169
- Datta SK (1990d) Some random thoughts regarding desired flower colour mutation. International Symposium on the contribution of IAEA-SM-311/57P, pp 133-134
- Datta SK (1991) Evaluation of recurrent irradiation on vegetatively propagated ornamental: Chrysanthemum. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* 20 (2), 81-86
- Datta SK (992b) Radiosensitivity of garden chrysanthemum. Journal of Indian Botanical Society 71 (I-IV), 283-284
- Datta SK (1992a) Induction and Analysis of somatic mutations in vegetatively propagated ornamental. DSc thesis, Kanpur University, India, 365 pp
- Datta SK (1992c) Mutation studies on double bracted Bougainvillea at National Botanical Research Institute (NBRI), Lucknow, India. *Mutation Breeding Newsletter*, January, Issue No. 39, 8-9
- Datta SK (1994) Induction and analysis of somatic mutaion in rose cultivar 'Salmon Beauty'. *The Indian Rose Annual* XII, 79-85
- Datta SK (1995) Induced mutation for plant domestication: *Lantana depressa*. Proceedings of the Indian Science Academy B61 No. 1, 73-78
- Datta SK (1996) Effects of gamma irradiation on mutant genotypes: Chrysanthemum cultivar 'D-5' and its mutants. Journal of Indian Botanical Society 75 (1-2), 133-134
- Datta SK (1997a) Ornamental Plants Role of Mutation, Daya Publishing House, Delhi, India, 220 pp
- Datta SK (1997b) Mutation studies on garden roses: A review. Proceedings of Indian National Science Academy B 63, 107-126
- Datta SK (1998) New variegated gene in chrysanthemum. *Indian Horticulture* Oct.–Dec, 5
- Datta SK (2001) Mutation studies on garden Chrysanthemum A review. In: Singh SP (Ed) Scientific Horticulture (Vol 7), Scientific Publishers, Jodhpur, India, pp 159-199
- Datta SK (2004) Bougainvillea research at National Botanical Research Institute, Lucknow. Journal of Ornamental Horticulture 7 (1), 1-14
- Datta SK (2005) Technological advances for development of new ornamental varieties. In: Trivedi PC (Ed) Advances in Biotechnology, Agrobios, Jodhpur, India, pp 283-304
- Datta SK (2006) Parameters for detecting effects of ionizing radiations on plants. In: Tripathi RD, Kulshreshtha K, Agrawal M, Ahmad KJ, Varshney CK, Krupa SV, Pushpangadan P (Eds) *Plant Responses to Environmental Stress*, International Book Distributing Co., Lucknow, India, pp 257-265
- Datta SK (2006b) Polianthes tuberosa. Applied Botany Abstracts 26 (3), 258-279
- Datta SK (2009a) A report on 36 years of practical work on crop improvement through induced mutagenesis. In: Shu QY (Ed) *Induced Plant Mutations in the Genomics Era*, Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Nuclear techniques in Food and Agriculture, International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Austria, pp 253-256
- Datta SK (2009b) Role of classical mutagenesis for development of new ornamental varieties. In: Shu QY (Ed) Induced Plant Mutations in the Genomics Era, Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Nuclear techniques in Food and Agricul-

ture, International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Austria, pp 300-302
Datta SK (2009c) Plant chimeras and their role in development of new ornamental varieties. *Journal of Ornamental Horticulture* 12 (2), 75-94

- Datta SK (2010) Induced mutagenesis for development of new varieties in vegetatively propagated ornamentals. NAARRI International Conference – 2010 (NIC-2010), Isotope Technologies and Applications – New Horizons, December 13-15, 2010, Mumbai, Organized by National Association for Applications of Radioisotopes and Radiation in Industry (NAARRI), Mumbai, Sponsored by Department of Atomic Energy, Government of India, Vol. 1, pp 227-230
- Datta SK, Banerji BK (1990) "Los Banos Variegata" new double bracted chlorophyll variegated bougainvillea induced by gamma rays. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* 19 (2), 134-136
- Datta SK, Banerji BK (1991) Analysis of induced somatic mutations in Chrysanthemum. Journal of Indian Botanical Social 70 (I-IV), 59-62
- Datta SK, Banerji BK (1993) Gamma ray induced somatic mutation in Chrysanthemum cv. 'Kalyani Mauve'. Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology 22 (1), 19-27
- Datta SK, Banerji BK (1994) 'Mahara variegata' A new mutant of bougainvillea. Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology 23 (2), 114-116
- Datta SK, Chakrabarty D (2005) Classical mutation breeding and molecular methods for genetic improvement of ornamentals. In: Datta SK (Ed) *Role of Classical Mutation Breeding in Crop Improvement*, Daya Publishing House, Delhi, India, pp 260-303
- Datta SK, Chakrabarty D, Mandal AKA (2001) Gamma ray induced genetic variation and their manipulation through tissue culture. *Plant Breeding* 120, 91-92
- Datta SK, Gupta MN (1980) Effects of gamma irradiation on rooted cuttings of small flower chrysanthemum. New Botanist VII, 73-85
- Datta SK, Gupta MN (1983) Somatic flower colour mutation in chrysanthemum cv. 'D-5' Journal Nuclear Agriculture Biology 12 (1), 22-23
- Datta SK, Gupta MN (1984a) 'Sarada' and 'Sukumari' new rose cultivars evolved by gamma irradiation. *Science and Culture* **50**, 200-201
- Datta SK, Gupta MN (1984b) Effects of colchicines on rooted cuttings of Chrysanthemum. The Chrysanthemum 40 (5), 191-194
- Datta SK, Gupta MN (1984c) 'Cosmonaut' A new chrysanthemum cultivar evolved by gamma irradiation. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* 13, 140
- Datta SK, Gupta MN (1985a) Mutation breeding on garden roses. American Rose Annual, 119-123
- Datta SK, Gupta MN (1985b) Treatment of budding eyes with colchicines for induction of somatic mutations in rose. *The Indian Rose Annual* IV, 80-83
- Datta SK, Gupta MN (1987) Colchicine induced somatic flower colour mutation in chrysanthemum. Bangladesh Journal of Botany 16 (1), 107-108
- Datta SK, Teixeira da Silva JA (2006) Role of induced mutagenesis for development of new flower color and type in ornamentals. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues (Vol 1, Part 3 Mutations and Mutagenesis), Global Science Books, Ltd., Isleworth, UK, pp 640-645
- Datta SK, Mandal AKA (2005) In vitro mutageneis a quick method for establishment of solid mutant in chrysanthemum. Current Science 88 (1), 155-158
- Datta SK, Banerji BK, Gupta MN (1985) 'Tulika' A new chrysanthemum cultivar evolved by gamma irradiation. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* 14 (4), 160
- Datta SK, Shukla R (1996) Effects of gamma irradiation on mutants of tuberose (*Polyanthes tuberosa*). *Herbertia* **59**, 139-141
- Davis DR, Hedley CL (1975) The induction by mutation of all-year round flowering in *Streptocarpus. Euphytica* 24, 269-275
- **De Mol WE** (1949) Twenty five years of tulip improvement by X-rays. *Michi*gan Academic Science Arts Letter **35**, 9-14
- Desai BN (1973) Report on mutation experiments at Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Trombay. In: 2<sup>nd</sup> Workshop on Floriculture, Agri-Horticultural Society, Calcutta, Jan 29-31, 31
- Desai BM (1974) New cultivars of perennial *Portulaca* through gamma radiation. *Indian Horticulture* **19 (2)**, 19-23
- Desai BM, Abraham V (1974) Radiation induced mutants in Canna. In: Proceedings of a Symposium, Use of Radiosotopes in Studies of Plant Productivity, April 12-14, Pantnagar, India, pp 180-186
- **Dommergues P, Heslot H, Gllot J, Martin C** (1967) L'inductionde mutations chez les rosicrs. In: Stube H (Ed) *Induced Mutations and their Utilization*, Gatersleben, 1966, Akademic-Verlag, Berlin, pp 319-349
- Doorenbos J (1973) Breeding 'Elatior' begonia (B. x hiemalis Fotsch.). Acta Horticulturae 31, 127-131
- **Doorenbos J, Karper JJ** (1975) X-ray induced mutations in *Begonia* × *Hiemalis. Euphytica* **24** (1), 13-19
- Dowrick GJ, El-Bayoumi A (1966) The induction of mutations in Chrysanthemum using X and gamma radiation. Eyphytica 15, 204-210
- Dube S, Das PK, Dey AK, Bid NN (1980) Varietal improvement of *Dahlia* by gamma irradiation. *Indian Journal of Horticulture* **37** (1), 82-87
- Dutcher FR, Hess E, Halstead TW (1994) Progress in plant research in space. Advances in Space Research 14, 159-171
- Earle ED, Langhans RW (1974) Propagation of Chrysanthemum in vitro I.

Multiple plantlets from shoot tips and the establishment of tissue cultures. *Journal of the American Society for Horticulture Science* **99**, 128-132

- Feng H, Yu Z, Chu PK (2006) Ion implantation of organisms. *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports* 54 (3-4), 49-120
- Feng HY, Yang G, Yu ZL (2009) Mutagenic mechanisms of ion implantation in plants. In: Shu QY (Ed) *Induced Plant Mutations in the Genomics Era*, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, pp 220-222
- Ehrenberg L, Gustafsson A, Nybom N (1952) Effects of ionizing radiations in barley. Arkiv Botanisk 1, 557-568
- Ehrenberg L, Gustafsson A, Lundquist U (1961) Viable mutants induced in barley by ionizing radiations and chemical mutagens. *Hereditas* 47, 243-282
- FAO/IAEA (1977) Manual on Mutation Breeding (2<sup>nd</sup> Edn), International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 288 pp
- Freisleben R, Lein A (1943a) Vorarbeiten zur zuchterischen Auswertung rontgeninduzierter Mutationen I. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenzucht 25, 235-254
- Freisleben R, Lein A (1943b) Vorarbeiten zur zuchterischen Auswertung rontgeninduzierter Mutationen II. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenzucht 25, 255-283
- Fuji T, Mabuchi T (1961) Irradiation experiments with chrysanthemum. Seiken Hiho 12, 40-44
- Gager CS (1908) Effects of the rays of radium on plants. *Memoires of the New* York Botanical Garden 4, 278
- Gaul H (1958) Present aspects of induced mutations in plant breeding. *Euphy*tica 7, 275-289
- Gaul H (1961) Studies on Diplontic Selection after X-irradiation of Barley Seeds. Effects of Ionizing Radiation on Seeds, Proceeding Conference, Karlsruhe, 1960, IAEA, (Vienna), pp 117-138
- Geier T (1988) *In vitro* chemical induction and propagation of *Kohleria* mutants with altered plant shape and flowering behavior. *Acta Horticulturae* **226**, 687-693
- Gottschalk W, Wolf G (1983) Induced mutations in Plant Breeding. Monographs on Theoretical and Applied Genetics 7, Springer Verlag, Berlin, 238 pp
- Goodhead DT (1995) Molecular and cell models of biological effects of heavy ion radiation. *Radiation and Environmental Biophysics* 34, 67-72
- Goodspeed TH, Olson AR (1928) Progenies from X-rayed sex cells of tobacco. Science 67 (1724), 46
- Grabowska B, Mynett K (1964) The radiation of gamma <sup>60</sup>Co rays on the dwarf Dahlia. Biuletyn Instytutu Hodowli i Aklimatyzacji Roslin 5-6, 17-26
- Grabowska B, Mynett K (1970) Induction of changes in garden gladiolus (*Gladiolus* hybrid horticulture) under the influence of gamma rays <sup>60</sup>Co. *Biuletyn Instytutu Hodowli i Aklimatyzacji Roslin* 1-2, 85-88
- Grunewaldt J (1983) In vitro mutagensis of Saintpaulia and Pelargonium cultivars. Acta Horticulture 131, 339-343
- Grunewaldt J (1988) In vitro selection and propagation of temperature tolerant of Saintpaula. Acta Horticulture 226, 271-275
- Gu R, Shen H (1989) Effects of space flight on the growth and some cytological characteristics of wheat seedlings. Acta Photophysiologica Sinica 15 (4), 403-407
- Gupta MN (1966) Induction of somatic mutations in some ornamental plants. In: *Proceedings of the All India Symposium in Horticulture*, The Royal Agrihorticulture Society of India, Calcutta, pp 107-114
- Gupta MN (1970) Use of gamma irradiation in the production of new varieties of perennial *Portulaca*. Process Food Agriculture Commercial Department, Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Bombay, India, pp 206-214
- Gupta MN (1979) Improvement of some ornamental plants by induced somatic mutations at National Botanical Research Institute. In: Proceedings of Symposium on the role of Induced Mutations in Crop Improvement, Sept. 10-13, Department of Genetics, Osmania University, Hyderabad, pp 75-92
- Gupta MN, Datta SK (1982) Effects of gamma rays on roses: Sprouting, growth and induction of somatic mutations. *The Indian Rose Annua* 11, 42-54
- Gupta MN, Datta SK (1983) Effect of colchicines on roses cv. 'Contempo'. The Indian Rose Annual II, 51-54
- **Gupta MN, Jugran HM** (1978) Mutation breeding of *Chrysanthemum* II. Detection of gamma ray induced somatic mutations in vM<sub>2</sub>. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* **7** (2), 50-59
- Gupta MN, Nath P (1977) Mutation breeding in bougainvillea II. Further experiments with cultivars 'Partha' and 'President Rosevilles' Delight'. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* **6**, 122-124
- Gupta MN, Nath P, Datta SK (1982) Effects of gamma irradiation on Rosa damascena Mill. The Indian Rose Annual III, 51-54
- Gupta MN, Sumiran R, Shukla R (1974) Mutation breeding of tuberose (Polianthes tuberosa L.) In: Symposium Use of Radiations and Radiosotopes in Studies of Plant Productivity, April 12-14, Pantnagar, India, pp 169-179
- Gustafsson A, Nybom N (1949) Colchicine, X-rays and the mutation process. *Hereditas* 35, 280-284
- Halstead TW, Dutcher FR (1987) Plants in space. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 38, 317-345
- Harney PM (1976) Breeding of floricultural crops in Canada. Acta Horticulturae 63, 19-26
- Hoffmann W (1959) Neuere Moglichkeiten der Mutationszuchtung. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenzucht 41, 371-394
- Huang SH, Chen Y (1986) Mutation breeding in rose. Mutation Breeding Newsletter 27, 14

- Huang W, Yu Z, Jiang X, Yang X (1996) Study of mass and energy deposit effects of ion implantation of NAA. *Radiation Physics and Chemistry* 48, 319-323
- Huitema JBM, Cussenhoven GC, Dons JJM, Broertjes C (1986) Induction and selection of low temperature tolerant mutants of *Chrysanthemum* Ramat. *Acta Horticulturae* 197, 89-96
- Huitema JBM, Preil W, Gussenhoven GC, Schineidereit M (1989) Methods or the selection of low-temperature tolerant mutants of *Chrysanthemum morifolium* Ramat. by using irradiated cell suspension cultures. I. Selection of regenerations *in vivo* under suboptimal temperature conditions. *Plant Breeding* **102**, 140-147
- Iizuka M, Ikeda A (1963/1968) Effects of X-ray irradiation on Lilium formosanum. Proceedings of the American Society for Horticultural Science 82, 508-516
- Ikegami H, Kunitake T, Hirashima K, Sakai Y, Nakahara T, Hase Y, Shikazono N, Tanaka A (2005) Mutation induction through ion beam irradiations in protoplasts of chrysanthemum. *Bulletin of the Fukuoka Agricultural Research Center* 2, 5-9
- Jain SM (2006) Mutation-assisted breeding in ornamental plant improvement. Acta Horticulturae 714, 85-98
- Jain SM (2010) Mutagenesis in crop improvement under the climate change. Romanian Biotechnological Letters 15 (2), 88-106
- Jain HK, Bose AK, Sathpathy D, Sur SC (1961) Mutation studies in annual chrysanthemum I. Radiation induced variation in flower form. *Indian Journal* of Genetics and Plant Breeding 21, 68-74
- Jana MK, Prasad AK, Moutschen JH (1974) Hydroxylamine induced chromosome aberrations in *Lens esculenta* and combined effects with ionizing radiation. *Cytologia* 39 (4), 655-663
- Jank H (1957) Experimental Production of Mutations in Chrysanthemum indicum by X-Rays (Translation), The Atomic Energy Research Establishment, Harwell, Oxfordshire 36 pp
- Jayanthi R, Datta SK, Verma JP (1999) Effect of gamma rays on single bracted bougainvillea. Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology 28 (3), 228-233
- Jerzy M (1990) In vitro induction of mutation in Chrysanthemum using X- and gamma radiation. Mutation Breeding Newsletter 35, 10
- Jerzy M, Lubomski M (1991) Adventitious shoot formation on ex *in vitro* derived leaf explants of *Gerbera jamesonii*. Scientia Horticulturae **47**, 115-124
- Jerzy M, Zalewska M (1992) In vitro adventitious bud techniques for mutation breeding of Gerbera jamesonii. Acta Horticulturae 314, 269-274
- Jerzy M, Zalewska M (1996) Polish cultivars of *Dendranthema grandiflora* Tzvelev and *Gerbera jamesonii* Bolus bred *in vitro* by induced mutations. *Mutation Breeding Newsletter* **42**, 19
- Johnson EL (1948) Response of *Kalanchoe tubiflora* to X-irradiation. *Plant Physiology* 23, 544-556
- Johnson RT (1980) Gamma irradiation and *in vitro* induced separation of chimera genotypes in carnation. *HortScience* 15 (5), 605-606
- Jung-Heliger H, Horn W (1980) Variation nach mutagener Behandlung von Stecklingen and in vitro-Kulturen bei Chrysanthemum. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenzucht 8, 185-199
- Kaicker US (1982) Mutation breeding on roses. The Indian Rose Annual 11, 35-42
- Kaicker US (1986) Induced colour mutation in roses through gamma irradiation. Indian Journal of Horticulture 43, 287-290
- Kaicker US, Dhyani D (1985) Induced mutations in roses. *Mutation Breeding* Newsletter 25, 6-7
- Kaicker US, Singh HP (1979) Role of mutation breeding in *Amaryllis. Plant* Life 35 (1-4), 66-73
- Kaicker US, Swarup V (1972) Induced mutations in roses. Indian Journal of Genetics and Plant Breeding 32(2), 257-265
- Karper JJ, Pierik RLM (1981) Gemuteerde Kalanchoe bloemen kunnen vegetaited worden vermeerderd. Vakkblad Voor de Bloemisterij 36 (44), 44-45
- Kawai T, Amano E (1991) Mutation breeding in Japan. In: Plant Mutation Breeding for Crop Improvement. Proceedings Series (IAEA). International Symposium on the Contribution of Plant Mutation Breeding to Crop Improvement, Vienna (Austria), 18-22 Jun 1990/Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Nuclear Techniques in Food and Agriculture, pp 47-66
- Khadr FH, Frey KJ (1965) Recurrent irradiation for oat breeding. Radiation Botany 5, 391-402
- Kharkwal MC, Shu QY (2009) The role of induced mutations in world food security. In: Shu QY (Ed) *Induced Plant Mutations in the Genomics Era*, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, pp 33-38
- Khoshoo TN (1968) Genetic improvement of ornamentals in India. Indian Journal of Genetics Plant Breeding 28A, 187-189
- Killion DD, Constantin MJ (1974) Effects of separate and combined beta and gamma irradiation on the soybean plant. *Radiation Botany* **14** (2), 91-99
- Konzak CF, Nilan RA, Wagner J, Foster RJ (1965) Efficient Chemical Mutagenesis. The Use of Induced Mutations in Plant Breeding, Report of the FAO/ IAEA Technical Meeting, Rome 1964, Pergamon Press, Oxford, pp 49-70
- Koo FKS, Cuevas-Ruiz J (1974) Induction of somatic mutations in Jerusalem thorns (*Euphorbia splendens* Bojeri.). *Mutation Breeding Newsletter* **3**, 13
- Lagoda PJL (2009) Networking and fostering cooperation in plant mutation

genetics and breeding: Role of the Joint FAO/IAEA Division. In: Shu QY (Ed) *Induced Plant Mutations in the Genomics Era*, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, pp 27-30

- Laneri U, Franconi R, Altavista P (1990) Somatic mutagensis of Gerbera jamesonii hybrid: Irradiation and in vitro culture. Acta Horticulturae 28, 395-402
- Lantin B, Decourtye L (1970) Obtention de types nouveaux chez le Dahlia par mutations provoquées. Lein Horticulture Pepiniere 99, 5875-5878
- Lata P, Gupta MN (1971) Morphological and cytological studies on gamma ray induced mutants of perennial *Portulaca grandiflora*. Japanese Journal of Breeding 21 (3), 121-128
- Lee LS, Cross MJ, Henry RJ (2009) EMAIL A highly sensitive tool for specific mutation detection in plant improvement programmes. In: Shu QY (Ed) *Induced Plant Mutations in the Genomics Era*, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, pp 243-244
- Lin WC, Molnar JM (1983) Rieger Elatior Begonia Saanred. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 63 (2), 563-564
- Liu F, Cao M, Rong T, Pan G (2005) Screening a RAPD marker related to the maize male sterility gene obtained by space flight. *Journal of Sichuan Agri*cultural University 23 (1), 19-23
- Liu L, Guo H, Zhao L, Gu J, Zhao S (2007) Achievements in the past twenty years and perspective outlook of crop space breeding in China. *Journal of Nuclear Agricultural Sciences* 21 (6), 589-592
- Liu L, Wang J, Zheng Q (2000) Crop germplasm enhancement through aerospace mutation technique. In: Jian S, Wang MH (Eds) *Proceedings of International Conference on Engineering and Technological Sciences*, New World Press, Middle Island, NY, pp 356-357
- Liu L, Wang J, Zhao LS, Yang JC, Guo HJ, Zhao SR, Zheng QC (2004) Research progress in mutational effects of aerospace on crop and ground simulation on aerospace environment factors. *Acta Agriculture Nucleatae Sinica* 18 (4), 247-251
- Liu L, Guo H, Zhao L, Gu J, Zhao S (2007) Achievements in the past twenty years and perspective outlook of crop space breeding in China. *Journal of Nuclear Agricultural Sciences* 21 (6), 589-592
- Liu L, Zheng Q (1997) Space-induced mutations for crop improvement. In: *China Nuclear Science and Technical Report*, CNICO1139/CSNAS-0111. China Nuclear Information Centre, Atomic Energy Press, Beijing
- Liu L, Guo HJ, Zhao LS, Wang J, Zhao SR (2009) Achievements and perspectives of crop space breeding in China. In: Shu QY (Ed) *Induced Plant Mutations in the Genomics Era*, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Rome, pp 213-215
- Love JE, Constantin MJ (1966) The induction of bud sports in *Coleus blumei* by fast neutrons. *Process American Social Horticulture Science* **88**, 627-630
- Love JE, Malone BB (1967) Anthocyanin pigments in mutant and non-mutant Coleus plants. Radiation Botany 7, 549-552
- Love JE, Mullenax RH (1964) Exposure of coleus plants to gamma irradiation. Tennessee Farm and Home Science 50, 18-19
- Lu CY, Nugent G, Wardly T (1990) Efficient, direct plant regeneration from stem segments of chrysanthemum (*Chrysanthemum morifolium* Ramat cv. Royal Purple). *Plant Cell Reports* 8, 733-736
- Mahna SK, Garg R (1989) Induced mutation in *Petunia nytaginiflora Juss*. Biologia Plantarum 31, 152-155
- Malaure RS, Barclay G, Power JB, Davey MR (1991a) The production of novel plants from florets of *Chrysanthemum morifolium* using tissue culture I. Shoot regeneration from ray florets and somaclonal variation exhibited by the regenerated plants. *Journal of Plant Physiology* **139**, 9-13
- Malaure RS, Barclay G, Power JB, Davey MR (1991b) The production of novel plants from florets of *Chrysanthemum morifolium* using tissue culture II. Securing natural mutations (sports). *Journal of Plant Physiology* 139, 14-18
- Maliga P (1984) Isolation and characterization of mutants in plant cell cultures. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 35, 519-552
- Maluszyuski M, Ahloowalia BS, Sigurbjornsson B (1995) Application of *in vivo* and *in vitro* mutation techniques for crop improvement. *Euphytica* **85**, 303-315
- Maluszyuski M, Nichterlein K, van Zanten, Ahloowalia BS (2000) Officially released mutant varieties the FAO/IAEA Database. *Mutation Breeding Review* **12**, 1-84
- Mandal AKA, Chakrabarty D, Datta SK (2000a) Application of *in vitro* techniques in mutation breeding of chrysanthemum *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **60**, 33-38
- Mandal AKA, Chakrabarty D, Datta SK (2000b) In vitro isolation of solid novel flower colour mutants from induced chimeric ray florets of chrysanthemum. Euphytica 114, 9-12
- Matsubara H (1982) Mutation breeding in ornamental plants. Techniques used for radiation induced mutants in *Begonia, Chrysanthemum, Abelia* and winter *Daphne. Gamma Field Symposium* 21, 65-68
- Matsubara H, Iba S, Oka M, Meshitsuka G (1963) Effects of gamma-irradiation on tulip II. Effects on various stages of development. *Tokyo Metropoli*tan Isotope Research Centre Annual Report 21 (1963), 157-162
- Matsubara H, Suda H, Sawada Y, Nouchi I (1975) An-ozone-sensitive strain from the mutants induced by gamma ray irradiation of the *Begonia rex*, variety Winter Queen. *Agriculture and Horticulture* 50 (6), 811-812

- Matsuda H (1942) Effects of X-rays upon tulip plants when irradiated in different development stages of floret organs. Journal of the Faculty of Agriculture, Hokkaido Imperial University 4, 359-382
- Matsumura A, Nomizu T, Furutani N, Hayashi K, Minamiyama Y, Hase Y (2010) Ray florets color and shape mutants induced by <sub>12</sub>C<sub>5+</sub> ion beam irradiation in chrysanthemum. *Scientia Horticulturae* **123**, 558-561
- McCallum CM, Comai L, Greene EA, Henikoff S (2000a) Targeting induced local lesions in genomes (TILLING) for plant functional genomics. *Plant Physiology* 123, 439-442
- McCallum CM, Comai L, Greene EA, Henikoff S (2000b) Targeted screening for induced mutations. *Nature Biotechnology* 18, 455-457
- Mei M, Qin Y, Sun Y (1998) Morphological and molecular changes of maize plants after seeds been flown on recoverable satellite. *Advances in Space Research* 22, 1691-1697
- Mehlquist GAL, Sagawa Y (1962) The effect of gamma radiation on carnation. In: Duculot J (Ed) *Proceedings of International Horticultural Congress* XVI, August 31- September 8, Brussels, Belgium, pp 10-18
- Micke A (1968) Utilization of induced mutants as hybrids. In: Chisci GC (Ed) *Proceedings of Eucarpia Congress*, 30.9 – 2.10.1968, Milano, pp 262-268
- Micke A (1969) Zur frage der mutagenen wirkung wiederhotter Rontgendestrahlungen. *Naturwissenschaften* 56, 40
- Micke A (1991) Induced mutations for crop improvement. Gamma Field Symposia No. 30, 1-21
- Micke A, Donini B, Maluszynski M (1987) Induced mutations for crop improvement – review. Tropical Agriculture (Trinidad) 64, 259-278
- Micke A, Donini B, Maluszynski M (1990) Induced mutations for crop improvement. *Mutation Breeding Review* 7, 1-41
- Mikkeksen JC, Ryan J, Constantin MJ (1975) Mutation breeding of Rieger's Elatior begonias. *American Horticulture* **54** (3), 18-21
- Mikkeksen EP, Sink KC Jr. (1978) Histology of adventitious shoot and root formation on leafpetiole cuttings of *Begonia × Hiemalis* Fotsch. 'Aphrodite Peach'. *Scientia Horticulturae* 8, 179-192
- Micke A, Maluszynski M, Donini B (1985) Plant cultivars derived from mutation induction or the use of induced mutations in crossbreeding. *Mutation Breeding Review* 3, 1-92
- Mishra P, Datta SK, Chakrabarty D (2003) Mutation in flower colour and shape of *Chrysanthemum morifolium* induced by gamma radiation. *Biologia Plantarum* 47 (1), 153-156
- Misra K, Raghuvanshi SS (1986) Response of Portulaca grandiflora to gamma rays, EMS and combined treatment. In: Manna GK, Sinha U (Eds) Perspective in Cytology and Genetics, Society of Cytologists and Geneticists, Hindasia Publishers, India 5, 289-296
- Miyazaki K, Suzuki K, Iwaki K, Kusumi T, Abe T, Yoshida S, Fukui H (2006) Flower pigment mutations induced by heavy ion beam irradiation in an interspecific hybrid of *Torenia*. *Plant Biotechnology* **23**, 163-167
- Molnar JC (1976) Rieger Elatior begonia cv. Northern Sunset. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 56, 1003
- Mukherjee I, Khoshoo TN (1970) Genetic evolutionary studies on cultivated cannas IV: Parallelism between natural and induced somatic mutations. *Radiation Botany* 10 (4), 351-364
- Muller MJ (1927) Artificial transmutation of the gene. Science 66, 84-87
- Myodo H (1942) Effects of X-rays upon tulip plants when irradiation in different development stages of floral organs. *Journal of the Faculty of Agriculture, Hokkaido Imperial University* **48**, 359-382
- Nagatomi S (1991) Enlargement of induced variations by combined method of chronic irradiations with callus culture in sugarcane. *Gamma Field Symposia* 30, 87-110
- Nagatomi S (1992) Effects of various irradiation methods on mutation induction of regenerants through leaf trimming and tissue culture of pineapple. *Technical News* **41**, 1-2
- Nagatomi S (2002) Effectiveness of gamma ray chronic irradiation on *in vitro* mugagenesis in crops. *SEMINARI: Agriculture and Biosciences I*, 49-58
- Nagatomi S, Degi K, Yagaguchi M, Miyahira E, Skamoto M, Takaesu K (1993) Six mutant varieties of different flower colour induced by floral organ culture of chronically irradiated chrysanthemum plants. *Technical News-Institute of Radiation Breeding* 43, 1-2
- Nagatomi S, Kamiyo M, Narusawa T, Iwasaki T, Okazaki T, Maruta Y (1996) Three mutant varieties in *Eustoma grandiflorum* induced through *in vitro* culture of chronic irradiated plants. *Technical News* 53, 1-2
- Nagatomi S, Tanaka A, Kato A, Watanabe H, Tano S (1996) Mutation induction on chrysanthemum plants regenerated from *in vitro* cultured explants irradiated with C ion beam. *TIARA Annual Report* **5**, 50-52
- Nagatomi S, Katsumata K, Nojiri C (1993) Induction of dwarf-type plants derived from *in vitro* cultures by gamma-ray irradiation in *Cytisus* genus. *Technical News* 51, 1-2
- Nagatomi S, Miyahira E, Degi K (1996) Combined effect of gamma irradiation methods and *in vitro* explant sources on mutation induction of flower color in *Chrysanthemum morifolium* Ramat. *Gamma Field Symposia* 35, 51-68
- Nagatomi S, Degi K (2009) Mutation breeding of Chrysanthemum by gamma field irradiation and *in vitro* culture. In: Shu QY (Ed) *Induced Plant Mutations in the Genomics Era*, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, pp 258-261

- Nakai H (1995) Studies on induced mutations by ion beam in plants. TIARA Annual Report 4, 34-36
- Nakajima K (1965) Induction of sports by gamma ray irradiation. Gamma Field Symposium 4, 55-70
- Nakajima K (1970) Gamma ray induced sports from a rose variety (Peace). *Technical News*, No. 4, Institute of Radiation Breeding, p 2
- Nakajima K (1973) Induction of useful mutations of mulberry and roses by gamma rays. In: *Induced Mutations in Vegetatively Propagated Plants*, IAEA, Vienna, pp 105-116
- Nakornthap A (1965) Radiation induced somatic mutations in the ornamental *Canna. Radiation Botany* **5 (Suppl.)**, 707-712
- Nakornthap A (1973) Radiation induced somatic mutations in Kalanchoe (Kalanchoe laciniata). The Kasetsart Journal 7, 13-18
- Nakornthap A (1974) Radiation induce somatic mutation in kalanchoe (Kalanchoe laciniata). Mutation Breeding Newsletter 3, 14
- Nezu M (1965) Studies on the production of bud sports in tulips by ionizing radiation. VI. Selection and observation of the mutant progeny. *Japanese Journal of Breeding* 15 (2), 113-118
- Nybom N (1961) The use of induced mutations for the improvement of vegetatively propagated plants. In: *Symposium Mutation and Plant Breeding Cornell University*, NAS-NRC, Publication 891, Ithaca, NY, pp 252-294
- Oka-Kira E, Tateno K, Miura K-I, Haga T, Hayashi M, Harada K, Sato S, Tabata S, Shikazono N, Tanaka A, Watanabe Y, Fukuhara I, Nagata T, Kawaguchi M (2005) Klavier (klv), a novel novel-hypernodulation mutant of Lotus japonicus affected in vascular tissue organization and floral induction. The Plant Journal 44, 505-515
- **Okamura M** (2006) Flower breeding by quantum beam technology, and its commercialization. *Gamma Field Symposia* No. 45, Institute of Radiation Breeding NIAS, Japan, pp 77-90
- Okamura M, Yasuno N, Ohtsuka M, Tanaka A, Shikazono N, Hase Y (2003) Wide variety of flower-color and-shape mutants regenerated from leaf cultures irradiated with ion beams. *Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research* **B206**, 574-578
- Okamura M, Tanaka A, Momose M, Urnemoto N, Teixeira da Silva JA, Toguri T (2006) Advances in mutagenesis in flowers and their industrializetion. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues (Vol 1, Part 3 Mutations and Mutagenesis), Global Science Books, Ltd., Isleworth, UK, pp 619-628
- Ostergaard L, Yanofsky M (2004) Establishing gene function by mutagenesis in Arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Journal 39, 682-696
- Patil AV, Kale PN, Kaulgud SN (1975) Some observations of gamma irradiation on growth and flowering of tuberose bulbs. *Current Science* 44, 406-407
- Preil W, Engelhardt M, Walther F (1983) Breeding of low temperature tolerant poinsettia (*Euphobia pulcherrima*) and *Chrysanthemum* by means of mutation induction in *in vitro* cultures. *Acta Horticulturae* 131, 345-351
- Qiu F, Li J, Weng M, Jin D, Gao H, Wang P, Jiang X, Wang B (1998) Molecular analysis of long-pod mutant line of mungbean generated by space mutagenesis. *Scientia Agriculturae Sinica* **31** (6), 38-43
- Raghuvanshi SS, Singh AK (1979) Gamma ray induced mutations in diploid and atuotetraploid perennial *Portulaca grandiflora* Hook. *Indian Journal of Horticulture* 36 (1), 84-87
- Rana RS (1964) Phynotypic variability of an induced mutant of chrysanthemum. *Genetica* 35, 642-643
- Rana RS (1965) Radiation-induced variation in rayfloret characteristic of annual chrysanthemum. *Euphytica* 14, 296-300
- Rapoport IA, Zoz NN, Makarova SI, Salnikova TV (1966) Supermutagens, Nauka, Moscow (in Russian)
- Richter A, Singleton WR (1995) The effect of chronic gamma radiation on the production of somatic mutations in carnations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 104, 295-300
- Roebbelen G (1959) 15 Jahre Mutationsauslosung durch Chemikalien. Zuchter 29, 92-95
- **Roest S, Van Berkel MAE, Bokelmann GS, Broertjes C** (1981) The use of an *in vitro* adventitious bud technique for mutation breeding of *Begonia x hiemalis. Euphytica* **30** (2), 381-388
- Romer FW, Micke A (1974) Combining ability and heterosis of radiation induced mutants of *Melilotus albus* Des. In: *Polyploidy and Induced Mutations* in Plant Breeding. Proceedings of two Meetings Organized by FAO/IAEA and EUCARPIA, Bari (Italy) (1972), pp 275-276
- Sagawa Y (1957) Nitrogen as a modifying factor in the growth and flowering responses of carnations to radiation. *Plant Physiology* **32** (Suppl.), 1
- Sagawa Y, Mehlquist GAL (1956) Radiation A new tool in carnation breeding. Carnation Craft 37, 3-5
- Sagawa Y, Mchlquist GAL (1957) The mechanism responsible for some X-ray induced changes in flower colour of the carnation, *Dianthus caryophyllus*. *American Journal Botany* 44 (5), 397-403
- Sagawa Y, Mehlquist GAL (1959) Some X-ray induced mutants in the carnation. Journal of Heredity 50 (2), 78-80
- Sasaki K, Aida R, Niki T, Yamaguchi H, Narumi T, Nishijima T, Hayashi Y, Ryuto Fukunishi N, Abe T, Ohtsubo N (2008) High-efficiency improvement of transgenic torenia flowers by ion beam irradiation. *Plant Biotechnology* 25, 81-89

Sato Y, Shirasawa K, Takahashi Y, Nishimura M, Nishio T (2006) Mutant

selection from progeny of gamma-ray-irradiated rice by DNA heteroduplex cleavage using *Brassica* petiole extract. *Breeding Science* **56**, 179-183

- Sawangmee W, Taychasinpitak T, Jompuk P, Kikuchi S (2011) Effects of gamma-ray irradiation in plant morphology of interspecific hybrids between *Torenia fournieri* and *Torenia baillonii*. Kasetsart Journal (Natural Science) 45, 803-810
- Schlatholter T, Alvardo F, Hoekstra R (2005) Ion-biomolecule interactions and radiation damage. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics B233, 62-69
- Schum A, Preil W (1998) Induced mutations in ornamental plants. In: Jain SM, Brar S, Ahloowalia (Eds) Somaclonal Variation and Induced Mutations in Crop Improvement, Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands, pp 333-366
- Searnaaij LD (1974) Progress report on clonal selection in carnations after irradiation. In: Broertjes C (Ed) Meeting of the Mutation Breeding Contact Group, Wageningen, pp 28-31
- Searnaaij LD, Demmink JF (1970) Yield and quality of the glasshouse carnation *Dianthus caryophyllus* L.) after mutagenic radiation with X-rays. *Euphytica* 9 (3), 310-317
- Searnaaj LD, Demmink JF (1971) Mutation breeding as a means of improving roductivity in commercial carnation cultivars. In: *Eucarpia Meeting on Ornamental*, Institute Horticulture Plant Breeding, Wageningen, pp 38-44
- Shama Rao HK (1977) Gamma ray induced mutations in Kalanchoe aigremontian H & P. Indian Journal of Experiment Biology 15 (4), 326-328
- Shama Rao HK, Singh Y (1976) Gamma ray induced early bulbil formation and growth abnormalities in Kalanchoe daigremontian H. and P. Indian Journal of Experiment Biology 14 (3), 358-360
- Sheenan TJ, Sagawa Y (1959) The effects of gamma radiation on Chrysanthemum and Gladiolus. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society 72, 388-391
- Shi J, Fan Q, Wang L, Hu P, Sun G, Li G (2000) Induction of large grain mutation in adzuki bean (*Phaseolus angularis* Wight) by space environmental condition. *Acta Agriculturae Nucleatae Sinica* 14, 293-298
- Shukla R, Datta SK (1993) Mutation studies on early and late varieties of garden chrysanthemum. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* 22 (3-4), 138-142
- Sigurbjornsson B, Micke A (1969) Progress in mutation breeding. In: Induced Mutations in Plants, Proceedings Symposium, Pullman, IAEA, Vienna, pp 673-698
- Simard MHN, Michaux-Ferriere, Silvy A (1992) Variants of carnation (Dianthus caryophllus L.) obtained by organogenesis from irradiated petals. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 29, 37-42
- Skirvin RM, Janick J (1976) Tissue culture induced variation in scented Pelargonium spp. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 10 (3), 281-290
- Slade AJ, Fuerstenberg SI, Loeffler D, Steine MN, Facciotti D (2005) A reverse genetic, nontransgenic approach to wheat crop improvement by TILLING. *Nature Biotechnology* 23, 75-81
- Slade AJ, Knauf VC (2005) TILLING moves beyond functional genomics into crop improvement. *Transgenic Research* 14, 109-115
- Smith HH (1958) Radiation in the production of useful mutations. *Botanical Review* 24, 1-24
- Sparrow A.H, Rogers AF, Susan SS (1968) Radiosensitivity studies with woody plants. I. Acute gamma irradiation survival data for 28 species and prediction for 190 species. *Radiation Botany* 8, 149-186
- Sparnaaj LD, Demmink JF, Garretsen F (1974) Selection clonale chez les oeillts. In: *Eucarpia Meeting on Ornamentals*, Institute Horticulture Plant Breeding, Wageningen, pp 51-62
- Sree Ramulu K (1971) Effects of ionizing radiations and chemical mutagens on chiasma frequency in sorghum. *Cytologia* 36, 543-551
- Srivastava R, Datta SK, Sharma SC, Roy RK (2002) Gamma rays induced genetic variability in *Bougainvillea*. *Journal of Nuclear Agriculture and Biology* **31** (1), 28-36
- Stadler LJ (1928a) Mutations in barley induced by X-rays and radium. Science 68, 186-187
- Stadler LJ (1928b) Genetic effects of x-rays on maize. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 14, 69-75
- Streiberg H (1967) Production of economically valuable variation in roses and araleas by means of X-irradiations. In: Stube H (Ed) *Induced Mutations and their Utilization*, Gatersleben, 1966, Akademie-Verlag, Berlin, pp 359-362
- Stube H (1959) Some results and problems of theoretical and applied mutation research. *Indian Journal Genetics and Plant Breeding* **19**, 13-29
- Sugiyama M, Saito H, Ichida H, Hayashi Y, Ryuto H, Fukunishi N, Terakawa T, Abe T (2008) Biological effects of heavy-ion beam irradiation on *Cyclamen. Plant Biotechnology* 25, 101-104
- Swaminathan MS (1971) Mutation breeding and agricultural progress. Journal of Indian Botanical Society 50A, 416-429
- Tanaka A (2009) Establishment of ion beam technology for breeding. In: Shu QY (Ed) Induced Plant Mutations in the Genomics Era, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, pp 216-219
- Tanaka A, Shikazono N, Hase Y (2010) Studies on biological effects of ion beams on lethality, molecular nature of mutation, mutation rate, and spectrum of mutation phenotype for mutation breeding in higher plants. *Journal of*

Radiation Research 51 (3), 223-233

- Tangsombatvitchit, C., A. Wongpiyasatid, P. Jompuk and T. Taychasinpitak (2008) Effects of acute gamma irradiation on mutation from stem cuttings of *Portulaca oleracea* L. Agricultural Science Journal 39 (1), 55-64
- Teixeira da Silva JA (2003) Chrysanthemum: Advances in tissue culture, cryopreservation, postharvest technology, genetics and transgenic biotechnology. *Biotechnology Advances* 21 (8), 715-766
- Till BJ, Afza R, Bado S, Huynh OA, Jankowicz-Cieslak J, Matijevic M, Mba C (2009) Global TILLING projects. In: Shu QY (Ed) Induced Plant Mutations in the Genomics Era, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, pp 237-239
- Ueno K, Ueno K, Nagayoshi S, Shimonishi K, Hase Y, Shikazono N, Tanaka A (2002) Effects of ion beam irradiation on chrysanthemum leaf discs and sweetpotato callus. *JAERI-Review* 35, 44-46
- Ueno K, Nagoyosh S, Hase Y, Shikazono N, Tanaka A (2004) Additional improvement of chrysanthemum using ion beam re-irradiation. *JAERI-Review* 25, 53-55
- Usenbaev EK, Imankulova KI (1974) Radiation mutants of roses. Proceedings of an International Horticulture Congress 19 (1A), 109
- Van Dordrecht EM (1984) Mutatieveredeling bij Kalanchoe veelbeloved. Vakkblad voor de Bloemiemisterij 39 (25), 50-51
- Van Raalte D, Van Raalte-Wichers D (1974) Toekomst voor Streptocarpus. Vakkblad voor de Bloemisterji 29 (23), 15
- Walther F, Suer A (1986a) Analysis of radiosensitivity a basis requirement for *in vitro* somatic mutagenesis II. Gerbera jamesonii. In: Nuclear Techniques and in Vitro Culture for Plant Improvement, IAEA, Vienna, pp 155-161
- Walther F, Suer A (1986b) In vitro mutagensis in Gerbera jamesonii. In: Horn CJ, Odenbach W, Schieder O (Eds) Genetic Manipulation in Plant Breeding. Proceedings of an International Symposium Eucarpia, Berlin 1985, Walter de Gruyter Publishers, Berlin, pp 555-562
- Wang LQ (1991) Induced mutation for crop improvement in China. In: Plant Mutation Breeding for Crop Improvement, Vienna, IAEA, pp 9-32
- Wang TL, Perry J, Welham T, Pike J, Parniske M, Rogers C, Oldroyd

GED, Stephenson P, Ostergaard L, Mccullagh B, Baker D, Walsh S, Clarke J (2009) Driving forward in reverse. In: Shu QY (Ed) *Induced Plant Mutations in the Genomics Era*, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, pp 247-250

- Watanabe H (2001) Significance and expectations of ion beam breeding. Gamma Field Symposia 40, 15-19
- Weigle JL, Butler JK (1983) Induced dwart mutant in *Impatiens platypetala*. Journal of Heredity 74, 200
- Yamaguchi H, Nagatami S, Morishita T, Degi K, Tanaka A, Shikazono N, Hase S (2003) Mutation induced with ion beam irradiation in rose. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B206, 561-564
- Yamaguchi H, Shimizu A, Degi K, Morishita T (2008) Effects of dose and dose rate of gamma ray irradiation on mutation induction and nuclear DNA content in chrysanthemum. *Breeding Science* 58, 331-335
- Yamakawa K, Sekiguchi F (1968) Radiation induced internal disbudding as a tool for enlarging mutation sectors. *Gamma Field Symposium* 7, 19-39
- Yang G, Wu L, Chen L, Pei B, Wang Y, Zhan F, Wu Y, Yu Z-L (2007) Targeted irradiation of shoot apical meristem of *Arabidopsis* embryos induces ion-distance bystander effects. *Radiation Research* 167, 298-305
- Van Eijk JP, Eikelnboom W (1981) Selectie bij de veredeling van de tulpen (II). *Bloembollencultuur* 91 (39), 1054-1055
- Veleminsky J, Gichner T (1987) DNA Damage and Repair in Higher Plants and Their Relation to Genetic Damage. Mutation Research, Elsevier Science Publication, Amsterdam, 181 pp
- Walther F (1974) Mutative effects of repeated irradiation with thermal neutrons of X-rays on an Ein-Korn-Ramsch (single grain bulk) of barley. In: *Polyploid* and Induced Mutations in Plant Breeding. Proceedings of FAO/IAEA/ EUCARPIA Meeting, Bari, Italy, 1972, IAEA, Vienna pp 385-389
- Yang G, Wu L, Chen L, Pei B, Wang Y, Zhan F, Wu Y, Yu Z (2007) Targeted irradiation of shoot apical meristem of *Arabidopsis* embryos induces longdistance bystander effects. *Radiation Research* 167, 298-305
- Younis SEA, Borham JH (1975) The effects of gamma irradiation on *Polian*thus tuberosa. Egyptian Journal of Botany 18 (1,3), 205-217